IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 16-1112

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

JASON GENE WEITZEL,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR FLOYD COUNTY
THE HONORABLE PETER B. NEWELL, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

DAVID A. KUEHNER
Eggert, Erb, Mulcahy & Kuehner, P.L.L.C.
701 Blunt Parkway
Charles City, IA 50616
(641) 228-3727
(641) 228-6524 (fax)
dakuehner@iabar.net

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

THE COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING THE DEFENDANT’S PLEA OF GUILTY AS HE WAS NOT INFORMED OF THE CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLEA AS REQUIRED BY IOWA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 2.8

State v. Fisher, 877 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Velez, 829 N.W.2d 572 (Iowa 2013)

Iowa R.Crim.P. 2.24

State v. Hinners, 471 N.W.2d 841 (Iowa 1991)

Iowa R.Crim.P. 2.8

State v. LaRue, 619 N.W.2d 395 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488 (Iowa 2012).

Iowa Code section 911.1

Iowa Code section 911.2B

Iowa Code section 321J.2(3)(c)

State v. Kress, 636 N.W.2d 12 (Iowa 2001)

State v. White, 587 N.W.2d 240 (Iowa 1998)

Commonwealth v. Persinger, 615 A.2d 1305 (Pa. 1992)

State v. Boone, 298 N.W.2d 335 (Iowa 1980)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case would allow the Supreme Court to resolve an important legal question which was left unanswered by its opinion in *State v. Fisher*, 877 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 2016); therefore, retention by the Supreme Court would be appropriate. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Jason Gene Weitzel appeal from the judgment and sentence entered against him following his plea of guilty in district court.

Course of Proceedings

Weitzel was charged by a five count trial information. (Trial Information; App. p. 1) After plea negotiations, he entered pleas of guilty to four of the five counts on May 17, 2016. (Plea Change Order; App. p. 7) On June 28, 2016, he was sentenced. (Judgment and Sentencing; App. p. 10) Weitzel timely filed a notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal; App. p. 16)

Facts

The underlying facts of the crime are irrelevant to this appeal as this appeal is based on the procedural matters arising from the plea change procedures.

On March 11, 2016, Weitzel was charged by a five count trial information. (Trial Information; App. p. 1) He entered pleas of guilty in open court to the following counts:

Count I: Domestic abuse assault impeding the normal breathing or circulation of blood resulting in injury, a class “D” felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.2A(1) and 708.2A(5).

Count III: Possession of methamphetamine, a schedule II controlled substance, second offense, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5).

Count IV: Carrying weapons, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 724.4(1).

Count V: Operating while intoxicated, first offense, a serious misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 321J.2. (Plea Change Order; App. p. 7)

Weitzel did not file any written pleas of guilty and the only record established about the plea change was the court transcript (Plea trans.) Weitzel did not file a motion in arrest of judgment. He was sentenced on June 28, 2016 to a indeterminate five year prison sentence on Count I to run consecutively to the two concurrent two year prions sentences on Count III and IV as well as the mandatory minimum sentence on Count V. (Judgment and Sentence; App. p. 10)

The sentence also included various financial provision including fines, suspended fines, surcharges, and court costs which are discussed more in detail in the argument. In fairness, it should be noted that the Weitzel does not contest the legality of the financial obligations imposed by the court.

The following are excerpts from the court's colloquy with Weitzel where the court set forth the minimum and maximum fines for each of the counts.

Count I: Domestic abuse assault impeding the normal breathing or circulation of blood resulting in injury:

...a maximum possible fine of \$7,500. This charge would have a mandatory minimum \$750, but that fine could be suspended, meaning you would not have to pay that. (Plea trans. p. 9 ls. 9-12)

Count III: Possession of methamphetamine, a schedule II controlled substance, second offense:

...a maximum possible fine of \$6,250. Each of those (counts III and IV) would carry a mandatory minimum penalty of a \$625 fine, but the Court could suspended those fines, meaning you would not have to pay them. (Plea trans. p. 10 ls. 7-10)

On the charge in Count 3, there is a mandatory Law Enforcement surcharge, and that is \$125; and I believe that there is also a mandatory DARE surcharge in that case of \$10. (Plea trans. p. 10 ls. 11-13)

Count IV: Carrying weapons:

“...\$6,250 - - \$625 fine, that can be suspended.” (Plea trans. p. 10 l. 19)

Count V: Operating while intoxicated, first offense:

...carries a maximum possible fine of \$1,500. Carries with it a mandatory minimum penalty of \$1,250. That can be cut in half or half of it could be suspended if, prior to sentencing, you obtain a temporary restricted license... (Plea trans. p. 11 ls. 6-10)

Additional facts will be set forth in the argument.

**ISSUE: THE COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING THE DEFENDANT'S
PLEA OF GUILTY AS HE WAS NOT INFORMED OF THE
CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLEA AS REQUIRED**

Standard of Review: The standard of review for guilty pleas is for correction of errors at law. *State v. Fisher*, 877 N.W.2d 676, 680 (citing *State v. Velez*, 829 N.W.2d 572, 575 (Iowa 2013))

Preservation of Error: Iowa R.Crim.P. 2.24 requires a defendant to file a motion in arrest of judgment in order to preserve error in order to challenge to a guilty plea. However, the defendant must be advised as to the substance of that rule. The Court in *Fisher* found the following acknowledgement contained in the written plea of guilty to be deficient:

I have been advised of my right to challenge this plea of guilty by filing a Motion in Arrest of Judgment at least five (5) days prior to the date that the Court sets for sentencing and within forty-five (45) days after the Court accepts my plea. *Fisher*, 877 N.W.2d at 679

The court informed Weitzel with strikingly similar language:

Now Mr. Weitzel, because we've not gone to Sentencing today, I need to advise you that you have the right to file a motion, called a motion in arrest of judgment. And you would file that

motion if you believe I have made any mistakes or error in accepting your plea here today.

If you are going to file that motion, you have to do so within 45 days of today's date, or in any case, not later than five days before the date set for sentencing.

If you have any questions about that motion, please speak to your attorney. (Plea Trans. p. 22, ls. 8-18)

Just as in *Fisher*, Weitzel was not advised that a failure to file a motion in arrest of judgment would prevent him from filing an appeal challenging the guilty plea. Therefore, Weitzel is not precluded from challenging his guilty plea on appeal. *See, Fisher*, 722 N.W.2d at 682

Although the plea change order did indicate the full implication of not filing the motion in arrest of judgment, there is no indication the defendant understood or even read that paragraph. (Plea change order; App. p. 7) A mere inclusion of this right in a written order does not rise to the level of assurance that the defendant knew about the rights afforded under the motion in arrest of judgment and voluntarily and intentionally waived the right to appeal. *See, State v. Hinners*, 471 N.W.2d 841, 845 (Iowa 1991) If the requirement in Iowa R.Crim.P. 2.8 is that the court "...determine the defendant understands..." the provisions specifically listed out in the rule, then this requirement should also apply to the other rights included in the plea proceeding required, but not enumerated in the rule.

Alternatively, if the court finds that error was not preserved, the appeal may still be prosecuted. An exception to the preservation of error requirements in

ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. LaRue*, 619 N.W.2d 395, 397 (Iowa 2000). The standard of review on an ineffective assistance of counsel is de novo. *State v. Brubaker*, 805 N.W.2d 164, 171 (Iowa 2011). The defendant must show his attorney failed to perform an essential duty and that he suffered prejudice. *State v. Clay*, 824 N.W.2d 488 (Iowa 2012).

Argument

Iowa R.Crim.P. 2.8(2)(b). Pleas of guilty. The court may refuse to accept a plea of guilty, and shall not accept a plea of guilty without first determining that the plea is made voluntarily and intelligently and has a factual basis. Before accepting a plea of guilty, the court must address the defendant personally in open court and inform the defendant of, and determine that the defendant understands, the following:

(2) The mandatory minimum punishment, if any, and the maximum possible punishment provided by the statute defining the offense to which the plea is offered.

The colloquy with the defendant was deficient in several aspect regarding the financial implications to the defendant.

A. Failure to inform the defendant of the mandatory surcharge for each count pursuant to Iowa Code section 911.1.

Weitzel entered pleas of guilty to four of the five counts of the trial information. As part of the plea process, Weitzel was to be informed of the minimum and maximum fines with the mandatory surcharges for each of the counts.

[W]e need not decide today whether failure to disclose the surcharges *alone* would have meant the plea did not *substantially comply* with rule 2.8(2)(b)(2). Regardless, we hold that *actual compliance* with rule 2.8(2)(b)(2) requires disclosure of all applicable surcharges. *Fisher*, 877 N.W.2d at 686, footnote 6 (emphasis in original)

The court never mentioned in its colloquy with Weitzel that he was required to pay the thirty-five percent surcharge pursuant to Iowa Code section 911.1. Since this is clearly not actual compliance with the rule 2.8 as held in *Fisher*, the question before this court on this case is whether this meets the substantial compliance required under Iowa R.Crim.P. 2.8.

B. Failure to disclose the mandatory surcharge on count I pursuant to Iowa Code section 911.2B.

Iowa Code section 911.2B requires a \$100 domestic abuse surcharge for violations of Iowa Code section 708.2A. Count I is such an offense and requires the surcharge. It was omitted in the colloquy. Just as the driver's license revocation for a violation of Iowa Code chapter 124 is a direct and mandatory consequence of a plea of guilty, so is this surcharge; therefore, the court was required to disclose it. *Fisher*, 877 N.W.2d at 684. The failure to disclose this surcharge as a "mandatory, immediate, and part of the punishment" requires the plea to be set aside as it was involuntary. *Id.*

C. Failure to correctly identify the correct maximum possible fine on count V pursuant to Iowa Code section 321J.2.

The court stated the maximum possible fine for operating while intoxicated, first offense was \$1,500. (Plea trans. p. 10 ls. 6-7) The fine for operating while intoxicated, first offense is set by the legislature at \$1,250. Iowa Code section 321J.2(3)(c). The court did not correctly inform the defendant of the maximum fine. There is no substantial compliance with rule 2.8(2)(b) when incorrect information is given. *State v. Kress*, 636 N.W.2d 12 (Iowa 2001)

D. Failure to inform the defendant the fines are cumulative.

By entering pleas of guilty to four counts, Weitzel was facing total fines in the amount of \$21,250 (7,500+6,250+6,250+1,250). The court did inform Weitzel the prison sentences could run consecutively. (Plea trans. p. 13 ls. 13-16) The court however, did not inform him that the maximum fines would be cumulative. Had this been a failure of the court to advise the prison sentences could be ordered to run consecutively, there is no room to argue the colloquy was in substantial compliance with rule 2.8(2)(b). *State v. White*, 587 N.W.2d 240 (Iowa 1998)

In order to understand the consequences of his plea it is clear that a defendant must be informed of the maximum punishment that might be imposed for his conduct. To hold that the term "maximum" does not include the total possible aggregate sentence is clearly incorrect. And to hold that a plea was intelligently and understandingly entered where a defendant was not informed that consecutive sentences could be imposed upon his multiple convictions is equally incorrect. *Id.* at

245 quoting *Commonwealth v. Persinger*, 615 A.2d 1305, 1308 (Pa. 1992)

Each of the aforementioned issues deprived Weitzel from having a full understanding of the true implications of his decision to enter a plea of guilty.

A defendant who enters a plea of guilty waives several constitutional rights. For the waiver to be valid under the Due Process Clause ... there must be an intentional relinquishment of known rights or privileges. If a defendant's guilty plea is not equally voluntary and knowing, it has been obtained in violation of constitutional guarantees of due process and is therefore void. The defendant must have a full understanding of the consequences of a plea before constitutional rights can be waived knowingly and intelligently. *State v. Boone*, 298 N.W.2d 335 (Iowa 1980)

As the colloquy with the defendant through the failure to disclose the mandatory surcharges, the correct fine amounts, and the cumulative nature of the fines, the pleas violated due process and are void. Therefore, the entirety of the guilty pleas should be vacated. *See, State v. Fisher*, 877 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 2016)

Alternatively, the failure of the Weitzel's attorney to allow the plea to proceed without ensuring he had a full understanding of the financial implications was error which prevented him from intelligently entering his pleas of guilty.

CONCLUSION

The defendant-appellant respectfully request that this Court vacate the pleas of guilty entered in this matter and remand to the district court for further proceedings.

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION

Defendant-appellant hereby respectfully requests that this matter be submitted with oral argument.