IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 16-1112

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

JASON GENE WEITZEL,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR FLOYD COUNTY
THE HONORABLE PETER B. NEWELL, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

JEAN C. PETTINGER
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
jean.pettinger@iowa.gov

RACHEL GINBEY
Floyd County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR
REVIEW**

I. Whether the Defendant Has Established That His Trial Counsel Was Ineffective For Failing to File a Motion In Arrest of Judgment Challenging the Adequacy of the District Court’s Advice Regarding the Guilty Plea.

Authorities

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)
Brewer v. State, 444 N.W.2d 77 (Iowa 1989)
King v. State, 797 N.W.2d 565 (Iowa 2011)
State v. Beeman, No. 14-1792, 2016 WL 3269527
(Iowa Ct. App. June 15, 2016)
State v. Brooks, 555 N.W.2d 446 (Iowa 1996)
State v. Coil, 264 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 1978)
State v. Cook, 565 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 1997)
State v. Fisher, 877 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 2016)
State v. Johnson, 445 N.W.2d 337 (Iowa 1989)
State v. Kirchoff, 452 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 1990)
State v. Loye, 670 N.W.2d 141 (Iowa 2003)
State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228 (Iowa 1982)
State v. Mann, 602 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 1999)
State v. Meron, 675 N.W.2d 537 (Iowa 2004)
State v. Myers, 653 N.W.2d 574 (Iowa 2002)
State v. Oldham, 515 N.W.2d 44 (Iowa 1994)
State v. Poyner, 306 N.W.2d 716 (Iowa 1981)
State v. Ray, 516 N.W.2d 863 (Iowa 1994)
State v. Straw, 709 N.W.2d 128 (Iowa 2006)
State v. Terry, 544 N.W.2d 449 (Iowa 1996)
State v. Thornton, 498 N.W.2d 670 (Iowa 1993)
State v. Worley, 297 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1980)
Iowa Code § 321J.2(3)(c)
Iowa Code § 708.6
Iowa Code § 901.8
Iowa Code § 902.9(e)
Iowa Code § 911.1
Iowa Code § 911.2B
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(3)(a)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(d)

II. Whether, Alternatively, the District Court Substantially Complied With the Requirements of Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(b).

Authorities

State v. Fisher, 877 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 2016)
State v. Fluhr, 287 N.W.2d 857 (Iowa 1980)
State v. Velez, 829 N.W.2d 572 (Iowa 2013)
Iowa Code § 911.1
Iowa Code § 911.2B
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)(2)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Although the defendant requests that this case be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court, his claim must be addressed as one of ineffective assistance of counsel and therefore involves the application of existing legal principles to the facts. Transfer to the Court of Appeals would be appropriate. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

The defendant, Jason Weitzel, appeals from the judgment and sentence entered following his plea of guilty to domestic abuse assault impeding the normal breathing or circulation of blood resulting in bodily injury, in violation of Iowa Code sections 708.2A(1) and 708.2A(5), a class “D” felony; possession of methamphetamine, second offense, in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5), an aggravated misdemeanor; carrying weapons, in violation of Iowa Code section 724.4(1), an aggravated misdemeanor; and operating while intoxicated, first offense, in violation of Iowa Code section 321J.2, a serious misdemeanor.

The defendant claims on appeal that the district court did not adequately advise him of the matters set forth in Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(b) regarding his guilty plea or, alternatively, that his trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to file a motion in arrest of judgment challenging the adequacy of the court’s advice regarding the guilty plea.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition

On March 11, 2016, the State filed a trial information charging the defendant with domestic abuse assault impeding the normal

breathing or circulation of blood resulting in bodily injury, in violation of Iowa Code sections 708.2A(1) and 708.2A(5), a class “D” felony (Count I); threat of terrorism, in violation of Iowa Code sections 708A.5 and 708A.1, a class “D” felony (Count II); possession of methamphetamine, a Schedule II controlled substance, second offense, in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5), an aggravated misdemeanor (Count III); carrying weapons, in violation of Iowa Code section 724.4(1), an aggravated misdemeanor (Count IV); and operating while intoxicated, first offense, in violation of Iowa Code section 321J.2, a serious misdemeanor (Count V). Trial Information (3/11/16); App. 1. The defendant pleaded not guilty to those charges. Written Arraignment and Plea of Not Guilty (3/21/16); App. --. The State later amended the trial information to change Count II to intimidation with a dangerous weapon, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.6, a class “D” felony. Motion to Amend Trial Information (4/12/16); Amended Trial Information (4/12/16); App. --, 4.

On May 17, 2016, pursuant to a plea agreement, the defendant entered Alford pleas to Counts I, III, IV, and V. Plea Tr. (5/17/16) p. 18, line 20 – p. 19, line 20; Record of Plea Change (5/17/16); App. 7.

In return, the State dismissed Count II. Plea Tr. (5/17/16) p. 11, line 24 – p. 12, line 24; Record of Plea Change (5/17/16); App. 7.

At a later sentencing proceeding, the district court imposed a term of incarceration not to exceed five years and a fine of \$750.00 plus the statutory 35% surcharge and domestic abuse surcharge on Count I; terms of incarceration not to exceed two years and a fine of \$625 plus the statutory 35% surcharge on Counts III and IV; and a two-day term of incarceration in the county jail and a fine of \$1250 plus the statutory 35% surcharge on Count V. Judgment and Sentence (6/28/16); App. 10. The court ordered that the prison terms on Counts I, III, and IV be served consecutively but that the two-day jail term on Count V be served concurrently. Judgment and Sentence (6/28/16); App. 10.

The defendant filed a timely notice of appeal. Notice of Appeal (6/30/16); App. 16.

Facts

The State will set forth relevant facts in the course of its argument.

ARGUMENT

I. **The Defendant Has Not Established That His Trial Counsel Was Ineffective For Failing to File a Motion In Arrest of Judgment Challenging the Adequacy of the District Court’s Advice Regarding the Guilty Plea.**

Preservation of Error

Generally, “[a] defendant's failure to challenge the adequacy of a guilty plea proceeding by motion in arrest of judgment shall preclude the defendant's right to assert such challenge on appeal.”

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(3)(a). There is an exception to this rule where a defendant is not advised

during the plea proceedings, as required by rule 2.8(2)(d), that challenges to the plea must be made in a motion in arrest of judgment and that the failure to challenge the plea by filing the motion within the time provided prior to sentencing precludes a right to assert the challenge on appeal.

State v. Fisher, 877 N.W.2d 676, 680 (Iowa 2016) (citing *State v. Meron*, 675 N.W.2d 537, 540 (Iowa 2004)); *State v. Loye*, 670 N.W.2d 141, 150 (Iowa 2003) (excusing error preservation when the “court’s comments in no way conveyed the fact that the defendant’s failure to file a motion attacking the adequacy of her plea would forfeit her right to challenge the plea on appeal”).

Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(d) provides:

The court shall inform the defendant that any challenges to a plea of guilty based on alleged defects in the plea proceedings must be raised in a motion in arrest of judgment and that failure to so raise such challenges shall preclude the right to assert them on appeal.

Iowa R. Crim P. 2.8(2)(d). This Court employs a substantial-compliance test in determining whether the rule has been satisfied.

State v. Myers, 653 N.W.2d 574, 577-78 (Iowa 2002).

Because the defendant failed to file a motion in arrest of judgment challenging his guilty plea and the district court substantially complied with Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(d), direct consideration of this claim on appeal is barred. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(3)(a); *State v. Worley*, 297 N.W.2d 368, 370 (Iowa 1980) (“Where the trial court informs the defendant of this procedural requirement, we will not hesitate to preclude challenges to plea proceedings on appeal.”).

During the plea proceeding, the district court advised the defendant as follows:

Now, Mr. Weitzel, because we’ve not gone to Sentencing today, I need to advised you that you have the right to file a motion, called a Motion in Arrest of Judgment. And you would file that motion if you believe I have made any mistakes or errors in accepting your plea here today.

If you are going to file that motion, you have to do so within 45 days of today's date, or in any case, not later than five days before the date set for Sentencing.

If you have any questions about that motion, please speak to your attorney.

Plea Tr. p. 22, lines 8-18. The court's statement during the proceedings did not inform the defendant that if he failed to file a motion in arrest of judgment, he would be precluded from challenging any defect in the plea proceedings on appeal. *See Meron*, 675 N.W.2d at 541 (stating that the court must inform the defendant (1) "that any challenges to a plea of guilty based on alleged defects in the plea proceedings must be raised in a motion in arrest of judgment" and (2) "that failure to so raise such challenges shall preclude the right to assert them on appeal").

However, on the same day the defendant entered his guilty pleas, the district court filed a written memorandum of the plea proceedings that included the following paragraph:

Defendant is advised by the Court pursuant to Rule 2.24, Iowa Rules of Criminal Procedure, that a Motion in Arrest of Judgment must be made not later than 45 days after plea of guilty, verdict of guilty, or special verdict upon which a judgment of conviction may be rendered, but in any case

not later than five (5) days before the date set for pronouncing judgment. A Motion in Arrest of Judgment is an application by the Defendant that no judgment be rendered on a finding, plea, or verdict of guilty. A Defendant's failure to challenge the adequacy of a guilty plea proceeding by Motion in Arrest of Judgment shall preclude his or her right to assert such challenge on appeal.

Record of Plea Change (5/17/16); App. 7. That written statement provided all of the information required under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(d). Thus, the court's comments during the plea colloquy coupled with the written statement in the record of plea change substantially complied with rule 2.8(2)(d). *Cf. State v. Oldham*, 515 N.W.2d 44, 46-47 (Iowa 1994) (finding that colloquy and written application to withdraw plea of not guilty considered together were sufficient to notify the defendant of the consequences of failing to file a motion in arrest of judgment); *State v. Kirchoff*, 452 N.W.2d 801, 805 (Iowa 1990) (considering written plea and oral sentencing comments together to determine whether there was substantial compliance with rule 2.8(2)(b)); *State v. Beeman*, No. 14-1792, 2016 WL 3269527, *2 (Iowa Ct. App. June 15, 2016) (concluding that the written pleas coupled with the court's in-court advisory constituted substantial compliance with rule 2.8(2)(d)).

The function of rule 2.8(2) is to ensure a defendant understands that he has the right to appeal the plea proceedings within the applicable time frame. So long as that concept is conveyed, the failure to file a motion in arrest of judgment precludes a direct challenge to the guilty plea. *Fisher*, 877 N.W.2d at 680. That principle promotes finality, which is an important component of justice. *State v. Mann*, 602 N.W.2d 785, 789 (Iowa 1999).

Because the district court substantially complied with rule 2.8(2)(d) and the defendant failed to file a motion in arrest of judgment, error was not preserved. This Court therefore should address the defendant's claim as one of ineffective assistance of counsel. The general error-preservation rule does not apply to such a claim. *State v. Lucas*, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982).

Standard of Review

Ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims involve a constitutional challenge and therefore are reviewed de novo. *State v. Ray*, 516 N.W.2d 863, 865 (Iowa 1994).

Merits

A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must prove both of the following elements: (1) counsel failed to

perform an essential duty; and (2) the defendant was prejudiced by counsel's errors. *State v. Brooks*, 555 N.W.2d 446, 448 (Iowa 1996); *State v. Terry*, 544 N.W.2d 449, 453 (Iowa 1996). To prove that counsel failed to perform an essential duty, the defendant must "overcome the presumption counsel is competent and show counsel's performance is not within the range of normal competency." *State v. Thornton*, 498 N.W.2d 670,675 (Iowa 1993). The reviewing court "will not reverse where counsel has made a reasonable decision concerning trial tactics and strategy, even if such judgments ultimately fail." *Brewer v. State*, 444 N.W.2d 77, 83 (Iowa 1989). To prove prejudice, the defendant must show a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different. *King v. State*, 797 N.W.2d 565, 574 (Iowa 2011) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984)). In the context of a guilty plea, "the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he or she would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *State v. Straw*, 709 N.W.2d 128, 138 (Iowa 2006) (citing *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S.52, 59 (1985)). The reviewing court may dispose of an ineffective assistance claim if the defendant fails to satisfy either the breach of duty or the prejudice

prong of the *Strickland* test. *State v. Cook*, 565 N.W.2d 611,614 (Iowa 1997).

Ordinarily, postconviction proceedings are the preferred forum for resolving ineffective assistance of counsel claims. *State v. Johnson*, 445 N.W.2d 337, 339 (Iowa 1989); *State v. Poyner*, 306 N.W.2d 716, 719 (Iowa 1981). Such proceedings afford an opportunity for a full evidentiary hearing where counsel may respond to the defendant's charges. *Johnson*, 445 N.W.2d at 339. "Even a lawyer is entitled to his day in court, especially when his professional reputation is impugned." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Coil*, 264 N.W.2d 293, 296 (Iowa 1978)). Nevertheless, when the record is adequate to address an ineffective assistance claim, the reviewing court may do so on direct appeal. *State v. Rubino*, 602 N.W.2d 558, 563 (Iowa 1999).

In the present case, the defendant claims his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge several alleged deficiencies in the plea colloquy: (1) the court's failure to inform the defendant of the 35% surcharge under Iowa Code section 911.1; (2) the court's failure to inform the defendant of the \$100.00 domestic abuse surcharge under 2015 Iowa Acts chapter 96, section 15 (codified at Iowa Code section 911.2B); (3) the court's inaccurate statement about the

amount of the fine for operating while intoxicated, first offense; and (4) the court's failure to inform the defendant that the fines were cumulative.

The defendant cannot establish that his counsel was ineffective. With regard to the 35% surcharge, the defendant cannot show that he would have insisted on proceeding to trial had he known of the surcharge. *See Straw*, 709 N.W.2d at 138. Under the terms of the plea agreement, the defendant avoided a conviction of a class "D" felony – intimidation with a dangerous weapon, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.6, which carried a possible five-year term of incarceration. *See Iowa Code § 902.9(e)*. It is unlikely knowledge of the surcharge would have led him to proceed to trial. With regard to the domestic abuse surcharge, the district court did advise him of that consequence of his plea. Although the court initially did not discuss the domestic abuse surcharge, it did inform the defendant of the surcharge a short time later after the prosecutor made reference to it. *See Plea Tr.* p. 11, line 24 – p. 13, line 7. As to the amount of the fine for operating while intoxicated, first offense, the court incorrectly advised the defendant that the maximum possible fine was \$1,500.00, when in fact it is \$1,250.00. *Plea Tr.* p. 11, lines 4-19; *see*

Iowa Code section 321J.2(3)(c). The defendant cannot credibly argue that the court's overstatement of the amount of the fine influenced his decision to plead guilty. Finally, the State is aware of no authority that requires the district court to inform a defendant that fines on different counts will be cumulative. Although the district court has the discretion under Iowa Code section 901.8 to order sentences imposed on different counts to be served concurrently or consecutively, there is no corresponding provision for fines. Unless the court suspends the fine (and in some cases it cannot), the defendant is responsible for paying the fines for each offense.

The defendant has not established his claim of ineffective assistance.

II. The District Court Substantially Complied With the Requirements of Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(b).

Preservation of Error

As discussed above, the defendant did not preserve this claim of error.

Standard of Review

Review of challenges to guilty pleas is ordinarily for correction of errors at law. *State v. Fisher*, 877 N.W.2d 676, 680 (Iowa 2016) (citing *State v. Velez*, 829 N.W.2d 572, 575 (Iowa 2013)).

Merits

If this Court directly addresses the defendant's claims, it should find the district court substantially complied with the requirements of Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8. As set forth above, the defendant claims the plea colloquy was deficient in the following regards: (1) the court failed to inform the defendant of the 35% surcharge under Iowa Code section 911.1; (2) the court failed to inform the defendant of the domestic abuse surcharge under 2015 Iowa Acts chapter 96, section 15 (codified at Iowa Code section 911.2B); (3) the court made an inaccurate statement about the amount of the fine for operating while intoxicated, first offense; and (4) the court failed to inform the defendant that the fines were cumulative. As set forth above, the district court did inform the defendant of the \$100.00 domestic abuse surcharge, and there is no requirement that the court advise the defendant that fines on different counts will be cumulative. There were no deficiencies in the plea colloquy with respect to those matters, so the State will not address the second and fourth matters here.

With regard to the statutory surcharge under Iowa Code section 911.1, the Iowa Supreme Court has held that "*actual compliance* with

rule 2.8(2)(b)(2) requires disclosure of all applicable chapter 911 surcharges” but has declined to address “whether failure to disclose the surcharges *alone* would have meant the plea did not “*substantially comply* with rule 2.8(2)(b)(2).” *Fisher*, 877 N.W.2d at 680. This Court should determine that the district court substantially complied with the rule in this case. When the court informs a defendant of the maximum possible term of incarceration, which directly implicates the defendant’s liberty interest; the maximum fine; and the other matters set forth in rule 2.8, the defendant has an adequate basis for deciding whether to proceed with the plea. Information regarding a surcharge is less likely to have an impact on the defendant’s decision, so that the failure to advise of the surcharge should not invalidate the plea.

As to the fact the district court informed the defendant the fine for operating while intoxicated, first offense, was \$1,500.00 instead of \$1,250.00, “a plea-taking error which raises no doubt as to the voluntariness or factual accuracy of the plea may be properly disregarded, provided the defendant is unable to prove prejudice.” *State v. Fluhr*, 287 N.W.2d 857, 864 (Iowa 1980), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Kirchoff*, 452 N.W.2d 801, 804-05 (Iowa 1990).

Because the maximum fine was actually less than the amount stated by the court, the defendant cannot show that he was prejudiced by the inaccuracy.

The plea colloquy conducted by the district court in this case substantially complied with the requirements of Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(b).

CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons stated above, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm Jason Weitzel's conviction and sentence.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

The State requests that this matter be submitted nonorally.